IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MISSISSIPPI COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL PERFORMANCE

PETITIONER

2007-JP-01959

VS.

NICKI M. BOLAND

RESPONDENT/APPELLANT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, NICKI M. BOLAND

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

ROBERT F. WILKINS, ESQ. Mathematic ROBERT F. WILKINS LAW FIRM, PLLC 475 EAST CAPITOL STREET (39207) POST OFFICE BOX 2777 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39207 TELEPHONE: (601) 948-6888 FACSIMILE: (601) 948-6889

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT, NICKI M. BOLAND

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

BRETT PRINCE 2006-084

- I. Regarding *Prince*, the Commission Erred in its Findings of Fact, and Any Conclusion of Law Based Thereon is Clearly in Error
- II. Regarding *Prince*, Peace Bonds Have Been a Source of Confusion for Justice Court Judges Around the State and Judge Boland Followed The Procedure of the Hinds County Justice Court
- III. Regarding *Prince*, There Has Been No Violation of Any Duty of Judicial Conduct
- IV. Regarding *Prince*, the Commission Erred in Imposing Sanctions

AUSTIN KINSTLEY 2006-121

I. Regarding *Kinstley*, the Commission Correctly Dismissed the Complaint

STATEMENT OF THE CASES

I. Nature of the Cases

Judge Nicki M. Boland (hereinafter "Judge Boland") has spent her life serving others and being committed to justice for all. On September 14, 2006, the Mississippi Commission on Judicial Performance (hereinafter "the Commission"), filed two (2) formal Complaints charging Nicki M. Boland, Justice Court Judge, District One, Hinds County, Mississippi, with judicial misconduct stemming from willful misconduct in office and conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice which brings the judicial office into disrepute in violation of Section 177A of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, as amended. The Complaints involve Brett Prince, Cause No. 2006-084 ("Prince") and Austin Kinstley, Cause No. 2006-121 ("Kinstley"). On October 25, 2006, Judge Boland filed Answers to the Complaints where she basically denied the allegations contained therein.

II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

The Brett Prince matter involved a peace bond arising out of threats made by Prince to his neighbor, Mark Moore. Essentially, Prince argues that his sentence was improper or in violation of the peace bond statute. The Austin Kinstley matter involved an alleged excess sentence. On September 19, 2007, a Committee comprised of Gaines S. Dyer, Presiding, Judge Melvin Ray, and Mr. Rick Coulter, held a hearing. The Committee filed its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendations on October 5, 2007. Judge Boland filed her Objections to the same on October 19, 2007.

On November 1, 2007, the Commission rendered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation. (hereinafter "November 1, 2007 Findings"). In the *Prince* matter, the Commission found that Judge Boland's conduct constituted willful misconduct in office and conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice pursuant to Section 177A of the Mississippi Constitution

of 1890, as amended, and recommended that Judge Boland be suspended from office without pay for 90 days and that she be fined \$4,250.00 plus costs of \$3,532.06. In the *Kinstley* matter, the Commission found that the Complaint be dismissed. Judge Boland's response to this November 1, 2007 Findings follows.

III. Statement of Facts

The Brett Prince matter will be addressed first. Judge Nicki M. Boland has been a dedicated attorney and jurist for over twenty years. (R at p. 204-210). Judge Boland is fifty-two years old, and has lived in Jackson, Mississippi her entire life. (R at p. 202). She is currently a Justice Court Judge in Hinds County, Mississippi, District One, and was elected in November 2003. Judge Boland lost her re-election bid, and will finish her term at the end of 2007.

Judge Boland graduated the University of Mississippi and received her J.D. from Mississippi College School of Law. (R at p. 204). She attended the Harvard School of Government and four summer programs at Cambridge University. (R at p. 204). When elected to the bench, Judge Boland attended the National Judicial College. (R at p. 204). She also attended Straus Institute of Dispute Resolution at Pepperdine University. (R at p. 205). Recently, Judge Boland was asked to be on the faculty at the National Judicial College one week a year to teach on therapeutic jurisprudence and problem-solving courts. (R at p. 205).

In addition, Judge Boland has worked in her community in many nonprofit organizations for many years. (R at pp. 206-7). She also served as a private attorney with Crosthwait, Turney, Noble, and Eastland for five years with success and without even a suggestion of unethical behavior. (R at pp. 205-6). Subsequently she served with acclaim as a commissioner of the Mississippi State Tax Commission for a six-year term. (R at pp. 205-6). During this time, she planned, launched, and presided over the first and only Justice Court Drug Court in the State of Mississippi. Judge Boland

has mediated over 250 Hurricane Katrina cases. (R at p. 207). Simply stated, Judge Boland's record of public servant is exemplary.

Regarding other judicial training, Judge Boland has attended every D.U.I. program offered at the National Judicial College. She has attended all domestic violence seminar's given by the Hinds County Sheriff's Office. Judge Boland attends all training that the Mississippi Judicial College puts on and attends the summer conferences. It is important to note that in her entire career as an attorney and judge, Judge Boland has never received any training regarding peace bonds. (R at p. 210).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Judges are not infallible. It was never intended that each and every failure to conform to the standards of the Code of Judicial Conduct would lead to judicial discipline. *In Re Inquiry Concerning Dennis M. Baker*, 535 So.2d 47, 50 (Miss. 1988). Yet, for attempting to interpret a statute that is confusing at best, unconstitutional at worst, Judge Boland has been severely punished by the Commission. The Commission's November 1, 2007 decision is clearly erroneous, and likely played a role in her defeat in the recent November election.

Mississippi law allows the entry of a peace bond to prevent a breach of the peace in certain situations. Miss. Code Ann. §99-23-1. The Commission's November 1, 2007 Findings hinge on a faulty premise: that "there is nor has [there] ever been a crime of 'peace bond.'" (See November 1, 2007 Commission Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Recommendations, ¶20)(hereinafter "Findings"). As shown below, this bold statement was contradicted by every judge and the only expert that testified at the hearing. It also contradicts the procedure of the Justice Court Judges of Hinds County and numerous other Justice Court Judges in Mississippi. Finally, the Commission simply ignores the fact that peace bonds are found in the "Criminal Procedure" section of the

Mississippi Code.

ARGUMENT (BRETT PRINCE 2006-084)

I. Regarding *Prince*, the Commission Erred in its Findings of Fact, and Any Conclusion of Law Based Thereon is Clearly in Error

The Commission made several factual errors that led to its conclusions to find Judge Boland had violated the Code of Judicial Conduct. First, the Commission found that "[o]n or about September 9, 2005, Prince was arrested on a warrant executed by Justice Court Judge Bill Skinner upon what purported to be the 'charge of peace bond.' There were no accompanying affidavits or warrants alleging Prince's violation of any law." (See November 1, 2007 Findings, ¶9).

The charging Affidavit of Mark Moore against Brett Prince is part of the Justice Court record for Cause No. 1375-292 and was admitted into evidence at the hearing. (See Affidavit for Bond to Keep the Peace, Hearing Exhibit 3, p. 2 of 18). The Affidavit of Mark Moore states that Brett Prince threatened Mark Moore and said "he will beat his fucking ass..." (*Id.*). This criminal conduct by Brett Prince scared Mark Moore and Mr. Moore felt threatened. (*Id.*). At the very least, the Affidavit of Mark Moore outlines the crimes of disorderly conduct, threats, and battery. Thus, the Commission erred in finding there were no accompanying affidavits alleging Prince's violation of any law.

It is undisputed that Judge William Skinner, not Judge Boland, instructed Mark Moore to sign an affidavit against Brett for peace bond and possibly another charge. (R at p. 99). Thus, it is important to remember that Judge Boland did not initiate this criminal case against Prince, and had no prior animus towards him. Judge William Skinner met with the parties and decided the charges that the Commission now says were improper. Judge Skinner also held Brett Prince without bond and stated that Prince "must see a judge," because Judge Skinner was quite familiar with Prince's violent nature. (R at p. 101; See Justice Court Warrant, Hearing Exhibit 3, p. 4 of 18).

Second, the Commission found that there was a dispute in whether Prince executed a knowing and voluntary waiver of attorney form. (See November 1, 2007 Findings, ¶10). Upon close examination of the record, this is not completely accurate. Brett Prince's mother, Caren Prince, admitted that her son was not forced to sign the waiver of attorney form. (R at p. 370). Further, Brett Prince could have hired an attorney or had one appointed for him, but he waived that right. (R at p. 368-9; See Deposition of Caren Prince, Hearing Exhibit 15, pp. 41-2).

Third, the Commission found that "Prince's mother arranged his transfer to the Country Oaks Treatment Center where he remained until October 20, 2005..." (See November 1, 2007 Findings, ¶10). After Brett Prince was sentenced by Judge Boland, Brett' parents, Billy and Caren Prince, willingly arranged for the transfer of their son to the treatment center. Once Brett Prince was admitted to Country Oaks, his parents then contacted another Hinds County Justice Court Judge because they were "concerned" about Brett's sentence from Judge Boland. (R at pp. 111-2).

Mr. and Mrs. Prince approached their next door neighbor, Justice Court Judge William Skinner, after Judge Boland had already handed down the sentence for Brett Prince. With only Mr. and Mrs. Prince present, Judge Skinner contacted Judge Boland via telephone. (R at p. 113). This conversation was not in open court and neither the prosecutor nor the complaining witness were present. The Commission failed to include these important facts.

Fourth, the Commission found that "Prince *allegedly* violated certain terms and conditions of said treatment in that he failed to report to work and went home without permission." (See November 1, 2007 Findings, ¶11) (Emphasis added). Again, the Commission erred because Brett Prince *actually admitted* that he violated the terms of his drug and alcohol treatment facility. (R at pp. 267-8). Also, the Commission found that Judge Boland's re-sentencing Order lacked "veracity." (See November 1, 2007 Findings, ¶11). However, Judge Boland denied that there was any intent to be untruthful regarding any Order. She testified that she took steps to rectify the situation once she found out there were problems with the procedure she had followed when sentencing Prince. The Commission also claims that Judge Boland's use of a form Order stating the defendant was present means that her Order lacked veracity. All of Judge Boland's actions were done in open Court in the presence of the defendant and/or his attorney, and the inflammatory statement by the Commission does not take the context of Judge Boland's actions into account.

II. Regarding *Prince*, Peace Bonds Have Been a Source of Confusion for Justice Court Judges Around the State and Judge Boland Followed The Procedure of the Hinds County Justice Court

The Commission found that the "Respondent's primary defense alleged in her answer and in her proof at the hearing before this Commission is that the peace bond statute is 'confusing' not only to the Respondent, but also to many other justice court judges." In fact, the Commission states, despite direct evidence to the contrary, that "there is nor has [there] ever been a crime of 'peace bond." (November 1, 2007 Findings, ¶20). It is interesting to note that the Commission cites no testimony from a single witness to support this finding. Obviously, the reason why there is no citation is that several witnesses testified that peace bonds were both civil and criminal in nature, and that there was great confusion in their application. Despite no testimony to support its bald assertion, the Commission still found that clear and convincing evidence existed.

The Commission erroneously found that "more unlawful conditions were also placed on Prince." (See November 1, 2007 Findings, ¶12). Once again, the Commission makes an argumentative statement that presupposes that the conditions placed on Prince were "unlawful." The Commission's pronouncement was directly contradicted by the sole expert witness with experience writing legal opinions on peace bonds.

Moreover, it is ironic that the Commission calls the conditions placed by Judge Boland on Prince "unlawful," because other Hinds County Justice Court Judges routinely did the exact same thing. In fact, Judge Skinner regularly made defendants charged with peace bond report to a probation officer as a condition of their charge. (R at p. 106). Judge Skinner testified that while there is no language in the peace bond statute that allows probation as a condition, he simply decided to do it anyway to protect people. (R at p. 131). Judge Skinner testified that other Hinds County Justice Court Judges put conditions on peace bonds such as drug and alcohol treatment. (R at p. 131). These conditions are not expressly stated in the statute, but reflect the practice of Justice Court Judges that are trying to protect the public and help defendants with certain needs.

The Commission fails to address the testimony of the key witness in the entire proceeding, David Scott. David Scott from the Mississippi Attorney General's Office testified on behalf of Judge Boland. Mr. Scott is a practicing attorney with twelve years experience, and he previously worked in the Opinions Division of the Attorney General. He also spoke at seminars for Justice Court Judges and trained judges at the Judicial College. (R at p. 296-7). The Commission recognized that Mr. Scott was an expert on peace bonds. (R at p. 312). No expert testified for the prosecution on peace bonds.

Mr. Scott testified at length regarding Miss. Code Ann. § 99-23-1 Peace Bonds. He testified that peace bonds are both "**quasi criminal, quasi civil.**" (R at p. 300). Mr. Scott said he does not think peace bonds fit properly under the civil or criminal label. (R at p. 301). Further, he said that the constitutionality of peace bond statute has not yet been challenged. (R at p. 302). Thus, it is not clear what this Court would do when deciding whether or not the peace bond statute is constitutional.

Mr. Scott testified that in his vast experience there is confusion among Justice Court Judges in Mississippi as to the application and workings of peace bonds. (R at p. 303). In fact, **he advises** Justice Court Judges to stay away from peace bonds because they are so confusing and problematic. (p. 303). More importantly, the peace bond statute does not address placement of conditions on peace bond. (R at p. 305; See Miss. Code Ann. § 99-23-1 Peace Bonds, Hearing Exhibit 7). Likewise, other bond statutes do not address whether you can put conditions on a bond such as alcohol or drug treatment, but such conditions are routinely used by judges. (R at p. 306).

Mr. Scott testified that the original Order by Judge Boland was not in violation of the law because the peace bond statute places no specific prohibition of putting conditions on a peace bond. (See September 14, 2005 Order, Hearing Exhibit 3, p. 8; R at pp. 310-311). Further, there is no written or implied requirement for affiant to be in court when the Defendant appears on a peace bond. (R at p. 309). Moreover, if the defendant does not post the money or a surety to the satisfaction of the judge, the defendant can be put in jail up to one year on a peace bond. (R at p. 315-6). Clearly, the monetary fine smacks of a civil penalty, while the jail time is clearly a criminal punishment.

There was conflicting testimony from every Justice Court Judge, attorney, and expert regarding the proper procedure for a peace bond. In fact, the only testimony that was undisputed was that there is confusion regarding the proper procedure for a peace bond. Yet, the Commission summarily found that peace bonds are not criminal and this was clearly erroneous.

Judge William Skinner testified that peace bonds are a "strange animal." (R at p. 121). Judge Skinner also testified that some judges will not use peace bonds due to the confusion. (R at p. 125). He testified that he never had any judicial training on peace bonds from the Attorney General's office in his six years on the bench. (R at p. 121). Judge Skinner also testified that there is no filing fee in a criminal case, but there is a \$64 filing fee for a peace bond. However, the Defendant actually says "guilty" or "not guilty" when they appear in open court. (R at p. 122). The Commission did not address this anomaly in its Findings. It was not contradicted that there is confusion among Hinds County Justice Court Judges and Justice Court Judges in the State of Mississippi regarding the proper procedure for peace bonds. (R at p. 123). This fact alone should weigh heavily towards Judge Boland's exoneration.

Like Judge Boland, Judge Skinner uses the term "guilty" if the defendant comes into court and admits the affidavit. (R at p. 128). Judge Skinner says the defendant with a peace bond is pleading guilty to a criminal offense even though there is a monetary fine. (R at p. 128). Judge Skinner says he considered peace bonds a criminal charge. (R at p. 128). Thus, according to the Commission, every Hinds County Justice Court Judge that testified at the Hearing is wrong because "there is nor has [there] ever been a crime of "peace bond." (See November 1, 2007 Commission Findings, ¶20).

Like Judge Boland and David Scott, Judge Skinner feels the peace bond statute does not give guidance as to whether peace bonds are civil or criminal. (R at p. 129). Judge Skinner testified that twenty different judges will give you twenty different answers on the proper procedure for peace bonds. (R at p. 103). While Judge Skinner's Warrant for Brett Prince says charged with "peace bond," Judge Skinner testified "I don't know" what a peace bond means. (R at p. 103). Judge Skinner testified that half of the judges think peace bonds are civil, and half of the judges think peace bonds are criminal. (R at pp. 104, 121). Thus, according to the Commission, half of the Justice Court Judges across the state are wrong because "there is nor has [there] ever been a crime of "peace bond." (See November 1, 2007 Findings, ¶20).

Despite the above, Judge Skinner has placed conditions on peace bonds in his Court. He has made Defendants report to a probation officer on a peace bond. (R at p. 106). Unfortunately, Judge Boland has been sanctioned for the same thing.

Judge Nicki Boland testified regarding the lack of understanding by judges regarding peace bonds. Judge Boland testified that she received no judicial training on peace bonds. (R at p. 382).

Judge Boland testified that the peace bond statute was the most confusing and contested aspect of justice court. In fact, everybody she dealt with thought peace bonds were criminal. (R at p. 382). Thus, once again, according to the Commission, everybody Judge Boland dealt with is wrong because "there is nor has [there] ever been a crime of "peace bond." (See November 1, 2007 Findings, ¶20).

Judge Boland testified that Brett Prince was charged with "peace bond" by Judge Skinner. (See Justice Court Warrant, Hearing Exhibit 3, page 4). Judge Skinner decided the charge, so if there was an erroneous charge for the crime of peace bond, it was made by Judge Skinner, not Judge Boland. (R at p. 387). Further, Judge Skinner held Prince without a hearing until he saw a judge. There is nothing in the peace bond statute to allow Judge Skinner to do that, but all the Hinds County Justice Court Judges do the same thing. (R at p. 388-9).

Moreover, it was uncontradicted that Judge Boland had never sent anyone to jail on a peace bond before Brett Prince. (R at p. 396). This was her first time to use a peace bond for jail time. Judge Boland testified that in September 2005 that the peace bond statute was "the most confusing thing" she had ever encountered as a judge. (R at p. 448). To help her understand peace bonds, Judge Boland took the initiative and sought advice regarding peace bonds from numerous sources, including Hinds County Court Judge Mike Parker and Judge William Skinner. (R at p. 448). **Judge Skinner told Judge Boland that she was allowed to place conditions such as probation on a peace bond.** Judge Boland now knows that this advice was incorrect. However, it was not until after the Brett Prince matter, when Judge Mike Parker overturned an Order with probation by Judge Skinner, that Judge Boland knew this. (R at p. 448-9). Judge Boland currently avoids dealing with

10

peace bonds if at all possible. (R at p. 450).

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