SCT - 01959 2007 - JP

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Respondent improperly incarcerated a litigant for the crime of "peace bond" in violation of the litigant's Constitutional rights as a citizen of this country. Judge Boland, as both a Justice Court Judge and a member of the Mississippi Bar, manipulated the litigant and his family using her unique power as judge. In so doing the Respondent, inter alia, violated Mississippi Annotated Section(s) 99-23-1, 99-23-5 and 99-23-13 and Canons 1, 2A, 2B, 3B(2), 3B(4), 3B(7), 3B(8) and 3C(1) of the Code of Judicial Conduct and Section 177A of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, as amended.

In addition, Respondent incarcerated a litigant for a period of time beyond that authorized by statute. Though the Commission dismissed this complaint against Respondent, the Commission recognized that though the Respondent's conduct may well have been a "clerical error" as she claimed, the defendant Mr. Kintsley did have to bear the expense of an attorney to file a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the County Court of Hinds County as the Respondent did not attempt to correct her mistake until after she lost jurisdiction over the matter. Commission counsel respectfully disagrees with the Commission's stance that this complaint should be dismissed.

Respondent's actions constitute willful misconduct in office and conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice which brings the judicial office into disrepute as defined by the Mississippi Supreme Court. <u>Miss. Comm'n on Judicial Performance</u> v. <u>Carr</u>, 786 So.2d 1055, 1058 (Miss. 2001); <u>In re Quick</u>, 553 So.2d 522, 524-25 (Miss. 1989).

The Respondent should be suspended from office for a period of ninety (90) days without pay, fined in the sum of \$4,250.00 and assessed costs of the proceedings in the sum of \$3,532.06. Or, in the alternative, considering Respondent's failed bid for reelection, that the suspension be modified to an increased fine reflective of the recommended loss of judicial salary.

ARGUMENT

THE CONDUCT OF THE RESPONDENT, JUSTICE COURT JUDGE NICKI M. BOLAND, CONSTITUTE WILLFUL MISCONDUCT IN OFFICE AND CONDUCT PREJUDICIAL TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE WHICH BRINGS THE JUDICIAL OFFICE INTO DISREPUTE, PURSUANT TO SECTION 177A OF THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION OF 1890, AS AMENDED?

Section 177A of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 authorizes the Mississippi

Supreme Court to sanction judges for "willful misconduct in office or conduct which is

prejudicial to the administration of justice which brings the judicial office into disrepute."

In Miss. Comm'n on Judicial Performance v. Carr, 786 So.2d 1055, 1058-59 (Miss. 2001)

the Court defined these grounds for sanctions as follows:

Willful misconduct in office is the improper or wrongful use of power of his office by judge acting intentionally or with gross unconcern for his conduct and generally in bad faith. It involves more than an error of judgment or a mere lack of diligence. Necessarily, the term would encompass conduct involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption, and also any knowing misuse of the office whatever the motive. However, these elements are not necessary to finding bad faith. A specific intent to use the powers of the judicial office to accomplish a purpose which the judge knew or should have known was beyond the legitimate exercise of his authority constitutes bad faith Willful misconduct in office of necessity is conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice that brings the judicial office into disrepute. However, a judge may also, through negligence or ignorance not amounting to bad faith, behave in a manner prejudicial to the administration

<u>Miss. Comm'n on Judicial Performance v. Russell</u>, 691 So.2d 929, 937 (Miss. 1997). This Court can generally recognize examples of willful misconduct when they are presented for review. <u>In re Anderson</u>, 412 So.2d 743, 752 (Miss. 1982) (Hawkins, J., specially concurring). The misconduct complained of need not be intentional or notorious; rather negligence, ignorance, and incompetence suffice as grounds for behavior to be classified as prejudicial to the administration of justice which brings the judicial office into disrepute and thus worthy of sanctions. <u>In re Quick</u>, 553 So.2d 522, 527 (Miss. 1989).

The Respondent, Hinds County Justice Court Judge Nicki Boland, found Brett Prince guilty of the "crime" of peace bond. She originally sentenced him to 12 months in the Hinds County Detention Center. There is no crime of "peace bond" and there was no authority whatsoever to incarcerate Prince. Respondent then gave him the option of entering a court ordered drug and alcohol treatment program, though drugs and alcohol were not at issue. He entered such a program; he was later removed from the program and placed back in the jail. Respondent subsequently reduced his sentence on the fictious "crime" to 6 months incarceration. Finally, after hiring an attorney, Prince was released from jail on bond, having been involuntarily in jail or treatment nearly 60 days.

The Commission determined, after hearing testimony and reviewing other evidence, by clear and convincing evidence, that the acts of the Respondent, as described herein, were willful and demeaning to the judicial office of Justice Court Judge. The Respondent showed no contrition and felt her actions were proper. Respondent's actions are a violation of 1, 2A, 3B(2), 3B(4), 3B(7), 3B(8) and 3C(1) of the Code of Judicial Conduct of Mississippi and and Section 177A of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, as amended.

Canon 1 of the Code of Judicial Conduct of Mississippi Judges provides that:

A Judge Should Uphold the Integrity and Independence of the Judiciary

An independent and honorable judiciary is indispensable to justice in our society. A judge should participate in establishing, maintaining, and enforcing high standards so that the integrity and independence of the judiciary will be preserved. The provisions of this Code should be construed and supplied to further that objective.

The Commission asserts that Respondent failed to observe high standards of conduct by repeatedly entering unlawful orders resulting in the unlawful incarceration of a litigant and the unauthorized detention of the litigant in a drug treatment facility.

Canon 2A states as follows:

A judge shall respect and comply with the law and shall act at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary.

The commentary to Canon 2A further states that "[P]ublic confidence in the judiciary is eroded by irresponsible or improper conduct by judges. A judge must avoid all impropriety and appearance of impropriety. A judge must expect to be the subject of constant public scrutiny. A judge must therefore accept restrictions on the judge's conduct that might be viewed as burdensome by the ordinary citizen and should do so freely and willingly." The Respondent neither respected nor complied with the law, as clearly

documented in the record and the Commission findings and conclusions. She jailed a litigant for a "crime" that did not exist and failed at every turn to afford that litigant his constitutional rights. Her actions destroyed any confidence the litigant or his family had in the integrity of the judiciary.

Canon 2B states:

Judges shall not allow their family, social or other relationships to influence the judge's judicial conduct or judgment. Judges shall not lend the prestige of their offices to advance the private interests of the judges or other; nor shall judges convey or permit others to convey the impression that they are in a special position to influence the judges. Judges shall not testify voluntarily as character witnesses.

Since Respondent has been on the bench, she has had the impression that justice

court is a "problem solving" court and has been instrumental in establishing a

misdemeanor drug court in the Hinds County Justice Court.

In testimony before the Commission, Respondent stated that she believed peace

bonds to be an avenue that allowed her to get litigants into a "problem solving" court.

(Tr. 398).

On cross examination, the following exchange occurred:

Q. And so, based upon what he told you, you decided that he needed to go to drug court?

A. What I decided was that this might be the perfect opportunity to get someone into the drug court program, that this – with the confusion about peace bonds, this might be the perfect opportunity to help somebody and

their family by getting them into a problem-solving court. (Tr. 434).

Respondent excused her actions by claiming the judiciary is confused about peace bond procedures and, at the same time, used that alibi as a reason to advance her interest in the misdemeanor drug court ideation. As a result, the Respondent allowed her personal opinions or beliefs about the litigant's conduct to influence her judgment by requiring Prince to go to drug treatment in lieu of jail (when she had absolutely no authority to order either) thereby advancing the private interests of said drug treatment facility. In fact, no-one ever asked that Respondent be incarcerated.

In questioning by a panel member, Respondent was asked:

- Q. Mr. Dyer: What does the affidavit say that the affiant was requesting, Judge Boland?
- A. That he fears for his life and family and prays that the defendant be put under bond to keep the peace. That's the standard language.
- Q. Mr. Dyer: Placed under a bond to keep the peace.
- A. That's correct.
- Q. Mr. Dyer: And what did you do? Did you place him under a bond to keep the peace?
- A. No.
- Q. Mr. Dyer: What did you do?
- A. Tried to get him in drug in our drug court.
- Q. Mr. Dyer: By sentencing him to a year in jail.
- A. But he we weren't gonna it wasn't to keep him in jail. At that time we didn't know how to get anybody into drug court.
- Q. Mr. Dyer: If he couldn't find a certified drug treatment facility, if he

couldn't find that, he had a year of sentence, did he not?

- A. No. Because, see, we weren't gonna put him in jail.
- Q. Mr. Dyer: Where did he go at the end of this order? Where did he go?
- A. Well, he went to jail.

Respondent's actions in this matter were clearly an abuse of the office of justice court judge, an office in which her authority is limited to that permitted by law. However, the Commission, asserts that Respondent was not considering what was permissible by the statutes involving peace bonds, but only how to get the litigant before her into her new drug court program though he was never a viable candidate.

Canon 3 of the Code of Judicial Conduct provides that:

A judge Should Perform the Duties of Judicial Office Impartially and Diligently

Canon 3B (2) then says:

A judge shall be faithful to the law and maintain professional competence in it. A judge shall not be swayed by partisan interests, public clamor, or fear of criticism.

The Respondent herein was neither faithful to the law nor did she remotely maintain professional competence in it. The Respondent, while a justice court judge, has a law degree and is a member of the Mississippi Bar. The peace bond statute, is found at MCA Section 99-23-1. Respondent claims this statute is too confusing for her, as a lawyer, to understand. The statute is in fact quite simple. It provides that:

Whatever complaint is made under oath by a credible person to a justice of the peace that any person has threatened to commit an offense against the person or property of another, and such justice is satisfied that there is good reason to fear the commission of such offense, he may issue a warrant to arrest and bring the person complained of before him or some other justice of the peace; and the justice of the peace before whom such person may be brought shall examine into the charge, and if there be just reason to apprehend that such person will commit the offense, he shall be required by the justice to enter into bond in such sum, with such sureties, and for such time not exceeding twelve months, as the justice may prescribe, conditioned to keep the peace toward the person against whom or whose property there is reason to fear offense may be committed.

If the presiding judge deems "there be just reason to apprehend that such person will commit the offense" alleged in the affidavit, the only authority the judge has is to require the defendant to post a bond of not more than \$500.00. MCA Section 99-23-13 & 99-23-35. There is absolutely and unequivocally no "crime" of peace bond and no authority to incarcerate a litigant for 12 months (or any other period of time) or order drug treatment. Respondent was not faithful to the law and totally lacked professional competence therein.

Canon 3B(4) states:

Judges shall be patient, dignified, and courteous to litigants, jurors, witnesses, lawyers, and others with whom they deal in their official capacities, and shall require similar conduct of lawyers, and of their staffs, court officials, and others subject to their direction and control.

Again, Respondent was neither patient, dignified nor courteous in dealing with

Mr. Prince, his family or their attorney. Although drugs or alcohol were not a factor in the peace bond affidavit, in open court Respondent referred to the family as "enablers" and expressed a desire to jail Mrs. Prince for contempt for failing to attend Al-Anon. Her personal disdain for Mr. Prince was further exhibited by her unlawful "custody" order wherein she essentially gave custody of a 22 year old man to his grandparents, forbidding contact with his parents.

Canon 3B(7) provides:

A judge shall accord to all who are legally interested in a proceeding, or their lawyers, the right to be heard according to law. A judge shall not initiate, permit, or consider ex parte communications, or consider other communications made to the judge outside the presence of the parties concerning a pending or impending proceeding except that:

(a) where circumstances require, ex parte communications for scheduling, administrative purposes or emergencies that do not deal with substantive matters or issues on the merits are authorized: provided:
(I) the judge reasonably believes that no party will gain a procedural or tactical advantage as a result of the ex parte communication, and
(ii) the judge makes provision promptly to notify all other parties of the substance of the ex parte communication and allow an opportunity to respond.

(b) Judges may obtain the advice of a disinterested expert on the law applicable to a proceeding before them if the judges give notice to the parties of the person consulted and the substance of the advice, and afford the parties reasonable opportunity to respond.

(c) A judge may consult with court personnel whose function is to aid the judge in carrying out the judge's adjudicative responsibilities or with other judges.

- (d) A judge may, with the consent of the parties, confer separately with the parties and their lawyers in an effort to mediate or settle matters pending before the judge.
- (e) A judge may initiate or consider any ex parte communications when expressly authorized by law to do so.

Respondent engaged in a course of improper ex parte communications with fellow Hinds County Justice Court Judge William Skinner, representatives of the Country Oaks Treatment Center and others throughout the approximately 60 days Mr. Prince was incarcerated or in treatment.

Judge Skinner, a neighbor of the Prince family, conversed with Respondent regarding past behavioral problems with Brett Prince, of which he had knowledge. Respondent used this information in making her decision to order Prince to enter rehabilitation in lieu of incarceration. (Tr. 424).

In addition, Respondent admitted placing Prince back in jail for violation of "peace bond" based upon ex parte communication with the personnel at Country Oaks.

Canon 3B(8) states:

A judge shall dispose of all judicial matters promptly, efficiently and fairly.

The record is abundantly clear; there was nothing fair about the Respondent's disposition of the Prince case.

Finally, Canon 3C(1) states the following:

A judge shall diligently discharge the judge's administrative responsibilities without bias or prejudice and maintain professional competence in judicial administration, and shall cooperate with other judges and court officials in the administration of court business.

Respondent abused her judicial power by using Prince's lack of knowledge of the peace bond process to manipulate him and his family into entering drug and alcohol rehabilitation though abuse of such was never a factor in the matter pending before the Court. Respondent knew or should have known that her actions were improper. Respondent also used her staff to further her unauthorized and illegal acts.

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